IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

IN THE MATTER OF N.J., A MINOR **CHILD**

NARA MIKHAL JOHNSON Appellant,

VS.

THE STATE OF NEVADA.

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Sep 07 2016 11:10 a.m. Case No. 7022 Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM AN ORDER FINDING THAT A MINOR CHILD COMMITTED A DELINQUENT ACT

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Troy Jordan, Esq Nevada Bar #9073 300 South Arlington Ave, Suite B Reno, NV 89501 775-432-1581 (phone) 866-283-9473 (fax)

Joseph Sanford, Esq. **Deputy District Attorney** 165 N. Ada Street Fallon, NV 89501 775-423-6561

Attorney for Appellant

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

A. STATUTE ALLOWING JURISDICTION

NRS 62D.500

B. TIMELINESS OF THIS APPEAL

The District Court filed the written dispositional order on March 21, 2016. The notice of entry of order was filed on March 23, 2016. The notice of appeal was filed on April 20, 2016.

C. TYPE OF APPEAL

Direct Appeal from order of the District Court finding a juvenile minor child committed a delinquent act.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This matter involves issues of first impression specifically is uncharged misconduct evidence allowed to be presented in juvenile delinquency matters and if so what safeguards should be in place to make them admissible so therefore, it appears that this appeal should remain with the Nevada Supreme Court per NRAP 17(a)(13).

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. IMPROPER BAD ACT EVIDENCE WAS PRESENTED TO THE

 COURT AND ADMITTED DURING THE ADJUDICATORY

 HEARING IN VIOLATION OF THE MINOR CHILD'S FIFTH,

 SIXTH, AND FOURTEEN AMENDMENT RIGHTS TO DUE

 PROCESS AND A FAIR TRIAL.
- II. INSUFFICENT EVIDENCE WAS PRESENTED BY THE STATE

 TO SUPPORT A FINDING OF DELINQUENCY

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 28, 2015, the State of Nevada filed a petition under the juvenile court act alleging one count of battery and one count of harassment. AA at 001. An adjudicatory hearing was held on March 16, 2016. AA at 004. The minor child was found delinquent as to both counts. AA at 128. This appeal followed. AA at 142.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Several juveniles including the alleged victim and Ms. Johnson were together at Oats Park in Fallon. AA at 010-011. The juveniles proceeded to a wooded area behind Walmart. AA at 014. Tiara McQueen and Ms. Johnson

were angry at the alleged victim and were yelling at her. AA at 15. Raymond Wilkes filmed the confrontation with his cell phone. AA at 15-16. The video was a fair and accurate representation of the incident. AA at 24. The video does not show Ms. Johnson striking the alleged victim in anyway, nor did Raymond Wilkes see Ms. Johnson strike the alleged victim in anyway. The alleged victim originally claimed that Ms. Johnson punched her in the temple (AA at 37), but later admitted the video did not show Ms. Johnson strike her in anyway. AA at 48. The alleged victim told Tierra McQueen that Ms. Johnson did not do anything wrong, but it was not her choice to press charges. Ms. McQueen is on the video attacking and battering the AA at 51-53. alleged victim several times hitting and kicking the alleged victim. AA at 48. Witness Kate Wiesman testified that Ms. Johnson did not hit the alleged victim. AA at 68. Witness Tierra McQueen said she did not see Ms. Johnson hit the victim. AA at 74. Witness Ruben Gutierrez stated that he did not see Ms. Johnson hit the victim. AA at 84.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The District Court and the Prosecutor erred in allowing the State to admit uncharged misconduct evidence in the adjudicatory hearing that violated the minor child's Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteen Amendment rights to Due Process and a Fair Trial.

There was insufficient evidence presented to prove the allegations against the minor child beyond a reasonable doubt.

LAW AND ARGUMENT

I. IMPROPER BAD ACT EVIDENCE WAS PRESENTED TO THE

COURT AND ADMITTED DURING THE ADJUDICATORY HEARING
IN VIOLATION OF THE MINOR CHILD'S FIFTH, SIXTH, AND

FOURTEEN AMENDMENT RIGHTS TO DUE PROCESS AND A FAIR
TRIAL.

A. This Court should find that bad act evidence is inadmissible in juvenile proceedings because there is no provision in NRS Chapter 62 that would allow for such evidence to be presented.

First and foremost, this Court appears to have never weighed in on whether bad act evidence is allowed in a proceeding pursuant to NRS Chapter 62D in the first instance. In adult criminal cases, NRS 48.045 allows for the admission of uncharged bad act evidence for certain limited purposes. There is no such provision similar to NRS 48.045 located in NRS Chapter 62D. Therefore,

appellant would assert that they are inadmissible in juvenile proceeding as a matter of law. This court has already ruled that the juvenile court is limited in scope to the statutes as provided in the NRS. Specifically this Court has held: "[T]he juvenile court system is a creation of statute, and it possesses only the jurisdiction expressly provided for it in the statute. A court which is the creation of statute has only the authority given to it by the statute. *Kell v. State*, 96 Nev. 791, 792-793, 618 P.2d 350 (1980).

Based on the above and by analogy, if there is no provision in the juvenile court statutes allowing for bad act evidence to be admissible in adjudicatory hearing, then the court could not admit the evidence because the juvenile court possesses only those powers as defined in the statute. As stated above there is no provision that mirrors NRS 48.045 that would allow a juvenile court to consider uncharged misconduct evidence. Therefore, the evidence is inadmissible.

The State may attempt to convince this court that NRS 62D.420 allows for such evidence. NRS 62D.420(1) states in pertinent part:

- 1. In each proceeding conducted pursuant to the provisions of this title, the juvenile court may:
- (a) Receive all competent, material and relevant evidence that may be helpful in determining the issues presented, including, but not limited to, oral and written reports; and
- (b) Rely on such evidence to the extent of its probative value.

Nev. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 62D.420

Although at first glance this provision may appear extremely broad, it certainly cannot be used to unconstitutionally deprive a juvenile of due process right or the right to a fair trial. Further this statute cannot be viewed in a vacuum. To read the statute literally that all competent, material, and relevant evidence that may be helpful in determining the issue presented would give the juvenile court unfettered discretion to admit all normally inadmissible evidence which could go so far as searches in violation of the Fourth Amendment or Statements of the accused taken in violation of Fifth Amendment. Clearly then, there must be a built in understanding in the interpretation of NRS 62D.420(1) that the evidence must otherwise be admissible.

This Court has already rule that bad act evidence is presumptively inadmissible. *Rhymes v. State*, 121 Nev. 17, 21, 107 P.3d 1278, 1280-81 (2005).

Further this Court has already ruled that

We have often held that the use of uncharged bad act evidence to convict a defendant is heavily disfavored in our criminal justice system because bad acts are often irrelevant and prejudicial and force the accused to defend against vague and unsubstantiated charges. The principal concern with admitting such acts is that the jury will be unduly influenced by the evidence, and thus convict the accused because it believes the accused is a bad person.

It is also well established that evidence of uncharged bad acts may be admitted for limited purposes other than showing a defendant's bad character so long as certain procedural requirements are satisfied and certain substantive criteria met. NRS 48.045(2) lists several of the purposes for which uncharged bad act evidence is admissible, including "motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident." [731] We emphasize, however, that NRS 48.045(2) is merely an exception to the general presumption that uncharged bad acts are inadmissible.

Tavares v. State, 117 Nev. 725, 730-731 (2001).

Given this court's clear directive in *Tavaras* that NRS 48.045(2) was an exception to a general presumption of inadmissibility and no such provision exists in Chapter 62 of the NRS, one can only conclude that the juvenile court was not given an exception such as NRS 48.045. Therefore, uncharged bad acts would not be admissible in juvenile court.

Finally, to the extent this court finds ambiguity in NRS 62.420 as to whether or not bad act evidence is allowed it must find in favor of the juvenile. Specifically this court has found that:

The rule of lenity teaches that, "Ambiguity in a statute defining a crime or imposing a penalty should be resolved in the defendant's favor." Antonin Scalia &

Bryan A. Garner, Reading Law: The Interpretation of Legal Texts 296 (Thomson/West 2012); Lucero, 127 Nev. at , 249 P.3d at 1230 (the "rule of lenity demands that ambiguities in criminal statutes be liberally interpreted in the accused's favor'' (quoting *Moore v*. State, 122 Nev. 27, 32, 126 P.3d 508, 511 (2006))); see United States v. Santos, 553 U.S. 507, 514, 128 S. Ct. 2020, 170 L. Ed. 2d 912 (2008) ("[t]his venerable rule . . . vindicates the fundamental principle that no citizen should be held accountable for a violation of a statute whose commands are uncertain, or subjected to punishment that is not clearly prescribed"). At least one state has passed legislation expressly subjecting detained juveniles to the enhanced penalties applicable to prisoners who commit assaultive crimes. See Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-202(1)(a) (LexisNexis 2008), discussed in State v. Gardner, 947 P.2d 630 (Utah 1997).

State v. Javier C., 128 Nev. Adv. Rep 50, 289 P.3d 1194 (2012).

Based on the above, this Court should find that no uncharged bad act evidence may be presented in juvenile court because the juvenile court lacks an exception to the presumptive inadmissibility of uncharged bad act evidence such as 48.045(2). Therefore, the admission of bad acts in this case was a violation of due process and this court should find the admission of uncharged bad act evidence as outlined below warrants reversal and a new adjudicatory hearing in this matter.

B. Alternatively if this Court does not agree that bad acts are completely inadmissible in a juvenile hearing then this court should grant juveniles the same

constitutional and procedural safeguards with respect to adult defendants when such bad act evidence is admitted.

If the Court is disinclined to adopt the legal analysis in section A, the Court should at least mandate the same or similar procedural safeguards as are required with adults. This court has already held that with regard to admitting bad acts evidence in adult cases, a prosecutor must:

In order to overcome the presumption of inadmissibility, the prosecutor has the burden of requesting admission of the evidence and establishing at a hearing outside the jury's presence that: "(1) the incident is relevant to the crime charged; (2) the act is proven by clear and convincing evidence; and (3) the probative value of the evidence is not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice." A prosecutor seeking admission of this volatile evidence must do so in the pursuit of justice and as a servant of the law, "the twofold aim of which is that guilt shall not escape or innocence suffer." Thus, "it is as much [a prosecutor's] duty to refrain from improper methods calculated to produce a wrongful conviction as it is to use every legitimate means to bring about a just one." Because the prosecutor is the one who must seek admission of uncharged bad act evidence and because the prosecutor must do so in his capacity as a servant to the law, we conclude that the prosecutor shall henceforth have the duty to request that the jury be instructed on the limited use of prior bad act evidence. Moreover, when the prosecutor fails to request the instruction, the district court should raise the issue sua sponte. We recognize that in unusual circumstances, the defense may not wish a limiting instruction to be given for strategic reasons. In those circumstances, the desire of the defendant should be recognized as he is the intended beneficiary of the

instruction and is in the best position to evaluate its consequence.

Tavares v. State, 117 Nev. 725, 730-731 (2001).

In analyzing the propriety of admitting evidence of prior bad acts, we have instructed trial courts to follow the parameters of NRS 48.045(2), such evidence is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show that he acted in conformity therewith but may be admissible to show "proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident." Before admitting evidence of prior bad acts, the district court must, outside the presence of the jury, determine whether: (1) the evidence is relevant, (2) the prior bad act is proven by clear and convincing evidence, and (3) the danger of unfair prejudice substantially outweighs the evidence's probative value. *Meek v. State*, 112 Nev. 1288, 1292-93, 930 P.2d 1104, 1107 (1996).

The hearing itself must be conducted on the record and outside the presence of the jury. *Armstrong v. State*, 110 Nev. 1322 (1994). The District Court must state its findings of facts and conclusions of law thereon. *Id.* Additionally, if the Court finds that the acts are admissible at trial, the Court must give a limiting

instruction before the introduction of evidence to the jury as well as in the jury instructions. *Tavares v. State*, 117 Nev. 725 (2001).

To deny juveniles these same safeguards with regard to bad act evidence as adults is a violation of due process. Further, it prejudices the right to fair trial because this highly prejudicial evidence would infect juvenile delinquency proceedings increasing the danger that the juvenile would be convicted on bad act evidence and not the actual evidence. This Court has already rule that bad act evidence is presumptively inadmissible. *Rhymes v. State*, 121 Nev. 17, 21, 107 P.3d 1278, 1280-81 (2005). Therefore, why would this court give license to prosecutors to use it without safeguards in juvenile proceedings?

C. Uncharged Bad Acts were improperly admitted by the District Court in this

Case in violation of due process, sufficient notice of the charges against her and
the right to a fair trial.

In the matter, Ms. Johnson was charged with a count of battery, the manner and means described as punching her in the temple. AA at 001. There is no mention in the petition of any spitting on the victim, which would constitute a separate battery. *Id.* The Court over the objection of defense counsel admitted evidence that Ms. Johnson allegedly tried to fight the victim several hours before the alleged battery took place. AA at 30. The court ruled it was res gestae. Later the prosecutor elicited evidence that Ms. Johnson spit on the victim. AA 37-38.

Defense counsel objected to evidence. *Id*. The Court overruled the objection without explanation. *Id*. Both of these incidents were prior bad acts because the challenging to fight would at least be disturbing the peace and as noted above an additional battery. The court with regard to the first incident found that it was res gestae. The Court erred in this regard.

In Allan v. State, 92 Nev. 318, 549 P.2d 1402 (1976), this court explained the res gestae doctrine.

When several crimes are intermixed or blended with one another, or connected such that they form an indivisible criminal transaction, and when full proof by testimony, whether direct or circumstantial, of any one of them cannot be given without showing the others, evidence of any or all of them is admissible against a defendant on trial for any offense which is itself a detail of the whole criminal scheme.

Id. at 321, 549 P.2d at 1404 (citing People v. Thomas, 3 Cal. App. 3d 859, 83 Cal.Rptr. 879 (Ct. App. 1970)).

In this case there is no way that the two events formed an indivisible transaction. The facts were clear that the alleged challenge to fight occurred earlier in the evening at Oats Park while the battery took place hours later in a wooded area behind Wal-Mart. AA at 10-14; AA at 29-31. These two incidents occurred at separate times and separate locations, so any belief by the court that they were an indivisible transaction was error. The prosecutor could have certainly show evidence of the alleged battery without evidence of the alleged challenge to fight.

Therefore, res gestae doctrine was inapplicable. Therefore, evidence could have only been admitted as a bad act. As noted above, even assuming bad acts are admissible in juvenile proceedings which Ms. Johnson does not concede, no safeguards were in place to force the State to prove the bad act by clear and convincing evidence nor did the court perform a prejudice vs probative value test. Therefore, the evidence should be stricken and a new adjudicatory hearing granted.

Furthermore, the evidence of supposedly spitting on the alleged victim was even more prejudicial. The court did not make a finding of res gestae with regard to this incident. It simply admitted evidence without explanation. AA at 37-38; AA at 41. There was no ruling as to why the act was admissible in either case. *Id*.

The admission of this highly prejudicial bad act evidence resulted in Ms.

Johnson being convicted of a batter with little to no evidence based on evidence of a second battery that was not charged by the State. Furthermore it violated Ms.

Johnson's Sixth Amendment right to notice of the charges against her.

The Sixth Amendment provides that "[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to be informed of the nature and cause of the accusation." The Fourteenth Amendment prohibits the State from depriving a person of "life, liberty, or property, without due process of law." Accordingly, the United States Supreme Court has held:

The object of the indictment is, first, to furnish the accused with such a description of the charge against him

as will enable him to make his defen[s]e, and avail himself of his conviction or acquittal for protection against a further prosecution for the same cause; and, second, to inform the court of the facts alleged, so [4] that it may decide whether they are sufficient in law to support a conviction, if one should be had A crime is made up of acts and intent; and these must be set forth in the indictment, with reasonable particularity of time, place, and circumstances.

United States v. Cruikshank, 92 U.S. 542, 558, 23 L. Ed. 588 (1875) (emphasis added).

Additionally, NRS 173.075 requires that an indictment or information contain "a plain, concise and definite written statement of the essential facts" of the charged offense. Ms. Johnson was never given notice that the spitting evidence would be admitted nor that it would be presented by the State. It was never charged in any fashion by the State, but was presented by the prosecutor and admitted by the court over objection and without explanation. This evidence was incredibly prejudicial and clearly infected the proceedings to the point that in was mentioned specifically by the Court in making its decision in that the Court made the finding that Ms. Johnson had committed the battery charged, but also the uncharged battery. AA at 128.

In making this decision the Court appears to have aided the prosecutor in obtaining a conviction on an incredibly weak case by allowing uncharged acts to come into evidence. As outlined below, the evidence was not sufficient to convict.

Even if the court disagrees with that analysis, the evidence was far from overwhelming and significantly aided by the uncharged bad act evidence. The entire proceeding was infected by this bad act evidence. Ms. Johnson's rights to due process and a fair trial were violated. This Court should reverse this matter and grant a new adjudicatory hearing.

II. INSUFFICENT EVIDENCE WAS PRESENTED TO CONVICT MS. JOHNSON OF BATTERY.

There was insufficient evidence to convict Ms. Johnson in violation of *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307 (1979). The Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment protects a defendant in a criminal case against conviction "except upon proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every fact necessary to constitute the crime with which he is charged.". *Id.* at 315.

In this case the fact presented at trial were as follows:

Several juveniles including the alleged victim and Ms. Johnson were together at Oats Park in Fallon. AA at 010-011. The juveniles proceeded to a wooded area behind Walmart. AA at 014. Tiara McQueen and Ms. Johnson were angry at the alleged victim and were yelling at her. AA at 15. Raymond Wilkes filmed the confrontation with his cell phone. AA at 15-16. The video was a fair and accurate representation of the incident. AA at 24. The video does not show Ms. Johnson striking the alleged victim in anyway, nor did

Raymond Wilkes see Ms. Johnson strike the alleged victim in anyway.

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