IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

IN THE MATTER OF N.J. A MINOR CHILD

NARA MIKHAL JOHNSON,

Appellant,

vs. Case No: 70220

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

APPEAL FROM AN ORDER OF THE TENTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT FINDING THAT A MINOR CHILD COMMITED A DELINQUENT ACT

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Joseph Sanford, Esq Bar #12,860 Deputy District Attorney Churchill County District Attorney 165 N. Ada. St. Fallon, NV 89406

Adam Laxalt Attorney General, State of Nevada 100 North Carson Street Carson City, NV 89701-4717 775-684-1100

Attorneys for Respondent

Troy Jordan, Esq Bar# 9073 Stover and Jordan 300 South Arlington Ave, Suite B Reno NV 89501 775-432-1581

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The District Court properly admitted all evidence of the defendant's conduct on September 22, 2015 pursuant to NRS 62D.420 as it was competent, material, and relevant evidence. The District Court was entitled to rely on all such evidence to the extent that the court determined that evidence to be probative.

NRS 62D.420 is an unambiguous statute and should be read with its plain meaning. The requirement of a pre-trial hearing on misconduct evidence would unduly burden the court in juvenile cases without any

significant benefit. All juvenile matters are heard by the judge or master of the juvenile court without the use of a jury, thereby allowing the court to appropriately weigh the probative value of the evidence in view of any prejudice.

There was sufficient evidence to adjudicate the defendant delinquent for both Battery and Harassment adduced at the adjudicatory hearing.

Finally, any errors committed by the District Court were harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

ARGUMENT

I. ADMISSION OF OTHER MISCONDUCT

A. Standard of Review

In reviewing the admissibility of misconduct evidence this Court said "[w]e have consistently held that the decision to admit or exclude such evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be overturned absent a showing that the decision is manifestly incorrect." *Rhymes v. State*, 121 Nev. Adv. Rep. 4, 107 P.3d 1278 (2005).

B. The unique nature of juvenile proceedings ensures that the rights of juveniles are protected without the need for the same procedural safeguards as adults receive.

NRS 62D.420(1) states in pertinent part:

- 1. In each proceeding conducted pursuant to the provisions of this title, the juvenile court may:
 - a. Receive all competent, material and relevant evidence that
 may be helpful in determining the issues presented,
 including, but not limited to, oral and written reports; and
- b. Rely on such evidence to the extent of its probative value.

 Nev. Rev. Stat. § 62D.420.

By its terms, NRS 62D.420 enables the juvenile court to receive evidence of other misconduct of the defendant so long as such evidence is competent, relevant and material. *Id.* The court may rely on that evidence to the extent of its probative value. *Id.*

NRS 62D.420 accounts for the main concern of misconduct evidence, namely "that bad acts are often irrelevant and prejudicial, and force the accused to defend against vague and unsubstantiated charges." *Tavares v. State*, 117 Nev. 725, 730, 30 P.3d 1128, 1131 (2001). NRS 62A.180 provides that juvenile proceedings are presided over by district judges and masters delegated by the district judge. *NRS 62A.180*. NRS 62D.010 requires that all juvenile proceedings be heard without a jury presided over by the juvenile court. *NRS 62D.010*.

Juvenile proceedings are not subject to the same concerns of prior bad act evidence as adult trials because there is no jury to be swayed by the prejudicial nature of the evidence. The procedural safeguards set forth in adult cases are designed to prevent a jury from hearing prior bad act evidence, and convicting the defendant because it believes the accused is a bad person instead of relying on the evidence. *Tavares*, 117 Nev. 725, 730, 30 P.3d 1128, 1131.

In adult cases, a prior hearing outside the presence of the jury is required prior to the admission of misconduct evidence. *Tinch v. State*, 113 Nev. 1170, 1176, 946 P.2d 1061, 1064–65 (1997). At the hearing, the State must demonstrate (1) the incident is relevant to the crime charged; (2) the act is proven by clear and convincing evidence; and (3) the probative value of the evidence is not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice." *Id*.

Reviewing the requirements set forth in *Tinch*, juvenile proceedings are in a substantially different position for which this process would be unduly burdensome. There is no jury, so a prior hearing outside their presence is unnecessary. Furthermore, because there is no jury, the need to prove the act by clear and convincing evidence and to weigh the probative value of the evidence with the danger of unfair prejudice is unnecessary.

The judge may use his discretion to determine the extent of the admitted evidence's probative value, and adequately resolve any prejudice to the defendant. Accordingly, the juvenile court should admit evidence of other misconduct so long as it is competent, material, and relevant in determining the issue presented. *See NRS 62D.420*.

In the present case, the District Court properly admitted evidence that the Defendant had attempted to instigate a fight with the victim earlier on the evening of September 22, 2015. AA at 30. The victim's testimony establishes that only a couple of hours before she was battered and harassed by the defendant, the defendant attempted to instigate a fight with her at a local park. AA at 30. This evidence is relevant to the ultimate issue presented because it sets the stage for the later battery and shows the motive of the defendant.

Even under the heightened adult standard proposed by Appellant, the evidence would be admissible as *res gestae* as ruled by the District Court. AA at 30. Commonly called *res gestae*, the State may admit evidence of other crimes or acts that are intermixed with the charged act such that an ordinary witness would not be able to tell the complete story of the charged crime without reference to the other wrongful acts. *NRS 48.035(3)*. Here, the events at the park are intermixed with the battery that occurred later in

the field such that an ordinary witness could not adequately describe the events in the field without reference to the earlier act in the park. The instigation to fight occurred on the same day between the same defendant and the same victim. AA at 29-30. Furthermore, the same observers were present at the park and the field. AA at 57. The parties at the park, including the Defendant, ultimately agreed for Ruben Gutierrez to pick up the victim and follow him. AA at 57.

The evidence would further be admissible under the adult standard to show the motive of the Defendant to batter and harass the victim. Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is admissible for specific purposes, including proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident. See NRS 48.045(2). The victim's testimony tends to prove that the defendant had a motive to batter the Defendant as shown by her earlier attempt at the field. The testimony further tended to prove that all of the persons involved, including the Defendant, planned to follow Ruben once he had picked up the defendant. The evidence was proven by clear and convincing evidence based on the testimony of multiple parties. AA at 30, 77. Finally, any prejudice created by attempting to instigate a fight, at most a breach of the peace, is outweighed by the probative value it provides to the later battery.

The District Court further properly admitted evidence that the Defendant spit on the victim at the conclusion of the battery in the field. The victim testified that the culmination of the battery by the Defendant and another juvenile was that both the other juvenile and the Defendant spit on her. AA at 38. This evidence is relevant to prove that the Defendant had the means and motive to batter the victim.

Even under the adult standard, the Defendant's act of spitting on the victim would be admissible as part of the res gestae of the crime. No ordinary witness could adequately describe the entirety of her battery by the Defendant and another juvenile without referring to the act that signified the end of the physical abuse. The act of spitting on the victim further showed motive on the Defendant's part to commit the battery of striking the victim in the car. The contemporaneous commission of another battery on the same victim is highly probative of the defendant's motive to commit battery and harassment only moments before.

C. Appellant's argument that the District Court lacks the statutory basis to receive evidence of other misconduct is without merit.

Appellant argues that all prior bad act evidence is inadmissible in juvenile proceedings as there is no statutory basis for receiving it.

Appellant's Brief pg. 8. Appellant admits that the plain language of NRS

62D.420 would encompass the admission of prior bad act evidence.

Appellant's Brief pg. 10. Appellant asks this Court to ignore the plain language of the statute because "there must be a built in understanding in the interpretation of NRS 62D.420(1) that the evidence must otherwise be admissible." Appellant's Brief pg. 10. Appellant asserts that a rationale to ignore the statutory language is the possibility that unconstitutionally obtained evidence would otherwise be admissible under the statute. *Id.*Appellant then suggests that no misconduct evidence of any kind can be presented before the juvenile court because there is no statutory authority to receive evidence outside of NRS 62D.420. Appellant's Brief pg. 12.

When a statute is unambiguous and the words have a definite and ordinary meaning, this Court should not look beyond the plain language of the statute unless it is clear that this meaning is not intended. *State v. Quinn*, 117 Nev. 709, 713, 30 P.3d 1117, 1120 (2001). As admitted by Appellant, the plain meaning of the statute encompasses all evidence, including misconduct evidence, which is relevant, competent and material. The only ambiguity provided by Appellant is that read plainly, the statute would allow for the admission of unconstitutionally obtained evidence.

NRS 62D.420 need not require the suppression of unconstitutionally seized evidence to be entitled to its plain meaning. It is the function of the

judicial remedy of the exclusionary rule to exclude evidence that would otherwise be admissible from use at trial to deter law enforcement from future constitutional violations. *Byars v. State*, 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 85, 336 P.3d 939, 947 (2014). Evidence seized in violation of constitutional provisions is only excluded when the purposes of the exclusionary rule are served. *Id.* Accordingly, unconstitutionally seized evidence is often admitted where the purposes of the exclusionary rule are not served.

There is no ambiguity in NRS 62D.420, and this Court should give the statute its plain meaning. All competent, material, and relevant evidence that may be helpful in determining the issue is admissible in juvenile proceedings. NRS 62D.420.

II. SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO ADJUDICATE DELINQUENCY A. Standard of review

"The standard of review for sufficiency of evidence upon appeal is whether the [trier of fact], acting reasonably, could have been convinced of the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." *Palmer v. State*, 112 Nev. 763 (1996), citing *Kazalyn v. State*, 108 Nev. 67, 71 (1992). The Nevada Supreme Court has also said that when sufficiency of the evidence is challenged on appeal, "the relevant inquiry for the court is 'whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the

prosecution, *any* rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." *Palmer*, 112 Nev. 763, citing *Koza v. State*, 100 Nev. 245, 250 (1984) (quoting *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 319 (1979))(emphasis in original). "It is for the [trier of fact] to determine what weight and credibility to give various testimony." *Hutchins v. State*, 110 Nev. 103, 107 (1994)(affirming judgments of conviction based primarily on the testimony of a sexual assault victim). "[I]n a case where there is conflicting testimony presented at trial, it is within the province of the [trier of fact] to determine the weight and credibility of the testimony." *Washington v. State*, 112 Nev. 1067 (1996).

B. There was sufficient evidence for the trier of fact to determine that the Defendant had committed the delinquent acts of battery and harassment.

Battery is any willful and unlawful use of force or violence upon the person of another. $NRS\ 200.481(1)(a)$. Harassment is (1) without lawful authority, the person knowingly threatens: to cause bodily injury in the future to the person threatened or to any other person, and (2) the person the person by words or conduct places the person receiving the threat in reasonable fear that the threat will be carried out. NRS 200.571(1). The

evidence adduced at trial was more than sufficient to show that the

Defendant unlawfully used force or violence upon the person of the victim

and threatened the victim with future bodily injury. The trial court heard the
following testimony:

While at the Oats Park the victim was accosted by the Defendant, Nara Johnson. AA at 30. According to the testimony of Tierra McQueen, the Defendant was under the impression that the victim had slept with the Defendant's boyfriend True Hanley. AA at 77.

Later that evening, Ruben Gutierrez drove the victim to a deserted back field in the area behind the Fallon Walmart. AA at 33-34. Moments after parking, two additional vehicles pulled up behind his vehicle. AA at 34. Ruben told the victim to run. AA at 43. The Defendant, Nara Johnson, and another juvenile, Tierra McQueen exited their vehicle, ran to the victim's vehicle, and entered inside the victim's vehicle. AA at 35.

The victim testified as follows to the events in the car:

Q. And did Nara ever touch you?"

A: Yes.

Q. What did she do?

A She hit me right here in the temple. She had rings on.

Q Okay.

A And she told me to stay away from True or she would cut me.

AA at 37.

The evidence adduced at trial clearly showed that the Defendant was upset with the victim over allegations of infidelity with her boyfriend. AA at 67. The testimony showed that the Defendant followed the victim to a field behind Walmart and entered into the vehicle with the victim and another juvenile to confront the victim about the allegations. While in the vehicle, the Defendant struck the defendant in the temple and attempted to pull her from the vehicle. AA at 37. The Defendant further threatened to cut the victim if the she ever went near True. AA at 37. The threat made during the commission of a battery reasonably put the victim in fear that the threat would be carried out.

Appellant argues that there was insufficient evidence because the video does not capture the Defendant striking the victim. Appellant Brief pg. 20. The victim testified that the strike by the Defendant occurred prior to being removed from the vehicle when the video started. AA at 49.

Appellant argues that the other witnesses testified that the Defendant did not strike the victim. Appellant Brief pg. 20. Katie Weisman described that the Defendant was trying to get the victim out of the car, but she could not see exactly how because she was on the other side. AA at 61. The other

juvenile present in the car Tierra McQueen testified she was "zoned into what I was doing. So I cannot really say that Nara punched her, because I didn't like, peripherally see it because I was focused on hitting her myself." AA at 74. Accordingly, the witnesses other than the victim testified that they did not see the defendant punch the victim, but they could not rule it out.

Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, the trier of fact could have reasonably found the essential elements of the crime of battery and harassment to be proven beyond a reasonable doubt.

III. HARMLESS ERROR

The adjudication of delinquency should be affirmed regardless of any error in the admission of evidence because such admission was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The appropriate standard for harmless-error review is whether it appears beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict obtained. *Cortinas v. State* 124 Nev. 1013 1027, 195 P.3d 315, 324.

The Court found that the testimony of the victim was credible and highly probative. AA at 106-107. The Court found the testimony of the remaining bystanders to not be credible. AA at 106. Furthermore, the Court specifically found that the defendant struck the victim to have been proven

beyond a reasonable doubt. AA at 106. The Court made clear that it considered the spitting battery complained of in this appeal to be a separate offense that was not charged, and that its findings of battery by striking were separate from the spitting battery. AA at 106.

RELIEFT SOUGHT

This court should affirm the decision of the District Court finding that the defendant committed the delinquent acts of Battery and Harassment.